
October 19, 2015 1 of 6 Regular Meeting 

 REGULAR MEETING OF OCTOBER 19, 2015 

 

The regular meeting of the Fair Lawn Planning Board on Monday, October 19, 2015 was called to 

order at 7:30 p.m. by Chairman Brent Pohlman in the Council Chambers of the Fair Lawn Municipal 

Building. 

 

The notice of the Open Public Meetings Law was read stating that the newspapers were notified 

and a notice posted on the first floor bulletin board of the Fair Lawn Municipal Building. 

 

Roll Call 

 

Present:   Peter Kortright, III,  Joan Fragala, Benjamin Bontekoe,  Chairman Brent Pohlman,  Daniel 

Furphy,  Larry Metzger,  Amy Hummerstone, Deputy Mayor Lefkowitz, Vice Chairman Joseph Mele, 

James Hughes  Absent:  Oliver Wilhelm   

  

Also present:  Board Attorney Thomas Randall, Board Engineer Jeffrey Morris, Board Secretary 

Cathy Hochkeppel 

 

Approval of minutes 

 

Upon motion by Joan Fragala and a second by Daniel Furphy, the work session minutes of the 

September 21, 2015 meeting were unanimously approved.  AYES:  Peter Kortright, III, Benjamin 

Bontekoe,  Joan Fragala, Larry Metzger, Daniel Furphy,  Chairman Pohlman  Abstain:  Deputy 

Mayor Lefkowitz, Joseph Mele     Upon motion by Larry Metzger  and a second by Joan Fragala, the 

regular meeting minutes of the September 21, 2015, meeting were approved.  AYES:  Peter 

Kortright, III, Benjamin Bontekoe,  Joan Fragala, Larry Metzger, Daniel Furphy,  Chairman Pohlman   

Amy Hummerstone, Abstain:  Deputy Mayor Lefkowitz, Joseph Mele 

 

Escrow bills  

 

Upon motion Benjamin Bontekoe and a second by Joseph Mele, the escrow bills were 

unanimously approved.    AYES:  Peter Kortright, III, Joan Fragala, Benjamin Bontekoe, Chairman 

Brent Pohlman, Daniel Furphy, Larry Metzger, Amy Hummerstone, Deputy Mayor Lefkowitz, Vice 

Chairman Joseph Mele 



October 19, 2015 2 of 6 Regular Meeting 

 

General Public Comment 

 

Chairman Pohlman opened the matter to the public but no public wished to be heard. 

 

Darchei Noam, Inc.; 10-04 Alexander Avenue; Block 4526, Lots 31 and 32 

Chairman Pohlman indicated that the members who were absent in August all listened to the tape 
and signed a certification enabling them to participate in the application. 
 
Chairman Pohlman took a ten minute recess to await applicant’s Counsel. 
 
Andrew Karas appeared on behalf of the applicant.  He explained that certain revisions were made 
to the plans.    Mr. Billow continued his testimony. 
 
David Billow stated that he revised the site plan dated August 31, 2015.  There were trees being 
moved in the rear yard and they added two trees in the front.  They changed the landscaping 
along the left side and rear of the property.  There is a six foot high vinyl fence which is now shown 
on the drawing.  The house on the left side is now depicted on the drawing.  He explained the 
garbage area and storage for strollers, etc.  The kitchen lay-out was explained including the 
warming ovens, refrigerators and two sinks.  Mr. Billow testified there is no cooking on the 
premises, just warming ovens.    He explained the utilities in the mechanical room.   
 
A drawing depicting the table lay-out for 90 people was marked as A-1 – 10/19/2015.  Mr. Billow 
stated that they were asked about sound proofing.  He has done some research, and they will put 
in a special foam insulation that will raise the sound deadening effectiveness.   
 
Mr. Billow presented a drawing that would be more code compliant.  It was marked as A-2 – 
10/19/2015.    Mr. Billow explained the scheme that had a building coverage of 37% where 30% is 
maximum permitted.    Mr. Billow explained the alternative lay-out which places the social hall on 
the second floor.    The plan that the applicant prefers is at least 8 feet lower than the alternative 
plan.    Mr. Billow testified that the original plan is more in keeping with the neighborhood than 
the alternative plan. 
 
Mr. Kortright asked if the applicant is proposing the alternative plan, and Mr. Karas said no.  
Joseph Mele asked about the building coverage and was told it is 30% for a house of worship.    
Amy Hummerstone asked about floor area ratio and was told it does not apply to a House of 
Worship.  Mr. Morris commented that there is a ramp on the back and that it might be considered 
in the setback.   
 
Chairman Pohlman opened the matter to the public. 
 
Elliot Lainardo asked about the distance to his house.  Mr. Billow explained that it is 15 feet from 
the rear lot line but he does not know the distance to his house. 



October 19, 2015 3 of 6 Regular Meeting 

 
Mr. Karas said that the Board had asked that the applicant present a landscaping maintenance 
plan and garbage plan, and Dr. Moerdler would address those issues. 
 
Dr. Mark Moerdler, President of the Congregation, testified that they have an arrangement with a 
landscaper and they have sprinklers installed.  Dr. Moerdler stated that they would continue to do 
that for all of the landscaping.  The current garbage arrangement is that members put out the 
garbage after evening services and are moved back in after pick-up.   
 
Chairman Pohlman opened the matter to the public and no public wished to be heard. 
 
Anthony Garrett, Ridgefield Park, New Jersey, was sworn in and qualified as a professional 
planner.    He testified that he is familiar with the site, the operations, the ordinances and the 
master plan.  An Aerial photograph was marked as Exhibit A-4 and a photo array dated October 19, 
2015, was marked as Exhibit A-5.      Mr. Garrett testified that the aerial photograph was the 
subject site together with the Jewish Center and the residences to the north and south.  He noted 
that there is also another house of worship in the area which is the Baptist church.  He said that 
the site is designed to fit in with the residences and has a residential feel.  He testified that the 
side yard setback is needed due to a hardship on the site.  The proposal is for a one story addition.  
He said compliance with the zoning ordinance would be more disruptive to the neighborhood and 
would lose the residential feel that the applicant is trying to accomplish.  He noted that the 
neighbor constructed an addition that is eleven feet off the property line.   He noted that in this 
zone, the residential houses require 20 foot setback, a house of worship requires 25 foot setback.   
He pointed out that there were several rear yard setback variances in the neighborhood.  He 
stated that the applicant is proposing heavy landscaping to the rear.    The use is an orthodox 
synagogue.  People are required to walk to and from the synagogue.  Mr. Garrett added that many 
of the conclusions reached in the original application are still valid.  Any variance has a certain 
amount of detriment, but New Jersey State law, particularly with regard to houses of worship, 
states that the detriment needs to be substantial for the Board to deny the application.  The 
applicant is proposing a one story addition.  Alternatively, the more conforming proposal would be 
more of a detriment and more intrusive as the social hall would be on the second floor.   He also 
noted that this is an inherently beneficial use.    He stated that this is not a development for a 
developer to make money but a use that will benefit present and future citizens.    He stated that 
by building below grade, the applicant is promoting the goals of the master plan and goals of the 
municipal land use law justifying the need for the bulk variances.  He stated that the nature of this 
institution is that people walk to and from the congregation.     He noted that case law stated that 
parking is not a compelling government interest to deny an application.      He also stated that the 
congregation has secured two overflow lots and will make sure those agreements are in place.    
He testified that the variances can be granted without substantial detriment and furthermore, the 
variances can be granted without causing significant impairment of the zone plan.  He testified 
that he feels this application is better than what is permitted by the zone plan. 
 
Chairman Pohlman noted that the applicant is required to maintain the parking agreements and to 
present proof to the Board annually.    Chairman Pohlman asked if the applicant would continue 
that condition, and Mr. Karas indicated that the applicant was willing to do so.   



October 19, 2015 4 of 6 Regular Meeting 

 
James Hughes asked about the 14 foot landscape screen and was told it would substantially 
conceal the one-story addition.    Larry Metzger asked about the youth room and was told the 
purpose is mainly to watch children while the rest of the family is at prayers.    It is not designed to 
be an educational classroom.    Dr. Moerdler stated that they have no interest in running youth 
programs.  Chairman Pohlman pointed out that one of the conditions in the original application 
was that there would be no day-care or preschool at the facility and that would remain. 
 
Peter Kortright pointed out that he was the chairman when this application was originally 
approved, and he was concerned about expansion at that time.    He asked if the applicant was 
willing to agree to no further expansion on this site.  Mr. Karas stated that the applicant does not 
plan on additional expansion but could not agree to that stipulation.   Joseph Mele stated that he 
has concerns about further expansion as well and is also concerned about the current setbacks.    
Mr. Garrett pointed out that to expand over the proposed expansion would cause an additional 
variance.  From a realistic standpoint, this site is reaching its capacity.  Dr. Moerdler pointed out 
that expanding over the addition would not be enlarge the sanctuary and would be pointless.  Vice 
Chairman Mele indicated he was also concerned about the rear yard ramps.    He asked about the 
air conditioning units and screening.  Mr. Billow indicated that it will be screened.  Ms. 
Hummerstone asked if the ramps were included in the impervious coverage and was told no.    It 
was pointed out that even with the ramps, the coverage it would be under the requirement of 
60%.  Mr. Morris asked about whether they could jog the side yard to meet the setback, and Mr. 
Garrett explained that it would affect the seats in the sanctuary.    Mr. Morris pointed out that the 
alternative plan was not conforming either.   Mr. Morris asked if the setback going from 25 feet to 
15 feet was substantial, and Mr. Garrett said he did not believe so with a one story addition. 
 
Chairman Pohlman opened the matter to the public. 
 
Ari Ludzki, 7-14 Manor Avenue, stated there was mention regarding the lack of parking, and asked 
if Mr. Garrett was present during evening services.  He stated that there are 10-15 cars there every 
night to pray and asked that it is taken into consideration by the Board.  Mr. Garrett explained that 
they have 25 spaces at the Jewish Center and will direct their members to park there.    Mr. Ludzki 
was also concerned about pedestrian safety with the increased foot traffic. 
 
Elliot Lainardo asked which plan is more expensive, and Mr. Karas said that they have not priced 
them out.   Chairman Pohlman explained that the applicant has presented the original plan and 
that is the application.  Mr. Lainardo added that some sanctuaries have balconies. 
 
Chairman Pohlman commented that a resident raised the issue of parking.  A few months ago, this 
Board had an application where the Rabbi stated he would make sure that residents did not park 
in front of the residences.  It is a valid concern for the days that congregants can drive.    Mr. Karas 
stated that his client will make his best efforts to encourage the congregants to park in the off-
street spaces.  Chairman Pohlman stated that being a good neighbor is important.     
 
Chairman Pohlman opened the matter for public comment. 
 



October 19, 2015 5 of 6 Regular Meeting 

Scott Sheps, 39 Mahoney Court, was sworn in and stated that he is a congregant who attends the 
synagogue.  He stated that he is looking toward the future.  There is very little space at the 
synagogue now.  People like the community.  He added that there are no rules to prohibit people 
from parking on the street.  He stated if anything this application is better for the town.  There is a 
need for this synagogue.  He said for himself, the decision the Board makes is whether he stays in 
the town or not. 
 
Orrin David, 4-28 Fourth Street, was sworn in and stated he lived here 30 years.    When they 
bought the building, they kept the residential feel and will continue to do so in the future. 
 
Elliott Lainardo was sworn in and stated that he has no animosity to the shul expanding but did not 
feel that it was appropriate in this residential area.   When he moved to Fair Lawn, he bought a 
house in a residential neighborhood.  He felt that they should look for an alternative location that 
would suit their growing numbers. 
 
Ari Ashkenas, 12-06 Bellair Avenue, was sworn in and stated that he lives not far from the 
synagogue.  He bought the house two years ago, and loves the community.  To see the Darchei 
Noam community grow is very encouraging.  It is nice to see families with strollers.  It is a 
wholesome and beautiful environment.   
 
Joshua Blichman, 2 Chittendon Road, was sworn in and stated that he has also lived here 30 years.  
He commented that the gentlemen who suggested that the congregation move has the same 
opportunity to move himself.   He felt 10-04 Alexander is an appropriate location for a synagogue.    
He stated that they cannot say that they will not continue growing but when it reaches a certain 
size, it breaks apart.   
 
Henry M. London, 42-12 Promenade Boulevard, was sworn in.  He stated that they moved here 
May 4th and are new to Fair Lawn.  He stated that he grew up in Teaneck.    He stated that this is a 
caring, growing community of many different ages and is a benefit to Fair Lawn. 
 
Boruch Hersh, 5-16 Sixth Street, was sworn in and moved to the house because it was close to 
Darchei Noam.  He was supportive of the expansion and felt this was helpful to the neighborhood.   
They keep the property in excellent condition and will continue to do so.   The application will help 
the neighborhood and will do it in the best way possible. 
 
Chairman Pohlman adjourned the meeting for ten minutes.    The meeting reconvened at 9:30 
p.m. 
 
No further public wished to speak. 
 
Mr. Karas stated that when you have a successful congregation, it creates a successful community.  
He reminded the Board that it is a beneficial use.  He said that the plan complies with the 
character of the neighborhood.  The applicant has satisfied its burden.  The revised plan was 
marked as Exhibit A-5, October 19, 2015. 
 



October 19, 2015 6 of 6 Regular Meeting 

Chairman Pohlman noted that the applicant is proposing the revised plan showing the additional 
screening.   The applicant has agreed to sound deadening material and the requirements of the 
original resolution provided that they do not conflict with the current approvals.    There was an 
agreement to screen the HVAC units as well.   
 
James Hughes stated that one of the things that is important is community and being a good 
neighbor.  He encouraged the congregants to use the off-street parking that is available. 
 
It was decided that an additional condition encouraging the congregants to park in the off-street 
parking spaces to be good neighbors would be added. 
 
Larry Metzger stated that the applicant has been a good neighbor and he encouraged them to 
continue to be and be aware of the parking.  Vice Chairman Mele stated that he is glad that the 
congregation has grown but he is concerned about the scale of the project.  Deputy Mayor 
Lefkowitz stated that she appreciated the congregation’s willingness to adhere to the conditions 
and incorporate the changes suggested.  Amy Hummerstone stated that she was concerned about 
the variances requested and thought they were substantial.   She commented that the site has 
limitations.  Joan Fragala and Benjamin Bontekoe commented that they agree with the comments 
relative to the parking.  Chairman Pohlman stated that he has had the opportunity to see the town 
change over his lifetime.  He stated that there are some other houses of worship in residential 
areas.  There has been testimony relative to the variances requested.    It should also be noted that 
this is considered an inherently beneficial use.  He encouraged the congregants to listen to the 
neighbors’ concerns.   
 
Larry Metzger moved that the application be approved and Benjamin Bontekoe seconded the 
motion.  AYES:  Joan Fragala, Deputy Mayor Lefkowitz, Benjamin Bontekoe, Larry Metzger, 
Chairman Brent Pohlman      NAYS:  Amy Hummerstone, Daniel Furphy, Peter Kortright, Joseph 
Mele  Ms. Hochkeppel noted that the application passed with a five to four vote.   
 
Adjournment 

 

Upon motion by Joan Fragala and a second by James Hughes, the meeting was unanimously 

adjourned at 9:45 p.m. 

    

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Cathryn Hochkeppel 

Secretary of the Planning Board 


